LAW OFFICE OF



**TARA DAWN SHURLING, PA**

Attorney and Counselor at Law

3614 Landmark Drive

Suite A

Columbia, South Carolina 29204

(803) 738-8622

(Fax) (803) 738-1600

E-Mail: [tdslaw@shurlinglaw.com](mailto:tdslaw@shurlinglaw.com)

March 27, 2019

The Honorable Daniel E. Shearouse  
Clerk, Supreme Court of South Carolina  
P.O. Box 11330  
Columbia, SC 29211

RECEIVED

APR 01 2019

Re: George W. Hughes v. State of South Carolina.  
Appellate Case No. 2018-000553

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Dear Mr. Shearouse:

**QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

1. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof with regard to his allegation that Trial Counsel was ineffective for making opening arguments to the jury at Petitioner's trial which undermined Petitioner's trial strategy to present a claim of self-defense? **Allegation 1, Am. App. for PCR.**

2. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof with regard to his allegations relating to the testimony of Ketcherside concerning his claim that he took photographs of a knife in Petitioner's car at the scene because he wanted to verify it was the same brand and type as the knife found at the scene? **Allegations 5, 6, 7 and 8 Am. App. for PCR.**

3. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof concerning the failure of Trial Counsel to adequately investigate and utilize the forensic evidence in Petitioner's case and his failure to adequately cross-examine the prosecution's witnesses concerning the forensic evidence in this case? **Allegations 18, 19, 20, 36, 48, 49, 50, 51and 52 Am. App. for PCR.**

4. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof with regard to his allegations that Trial Counsel was ineffective for neglecting to discuss the decision concerning whether to argue against a verdict of the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter to the jury with him, for failing to advise him concerning the risks inherent in proceeding only on the charge of murder, for neglecting to advise him that he could assert his claim of self-defense while at the same time arguing that the evidence presented by the State failed to establish malice beyond a reasonable doubt and for neglecting to advise Petitioner that

while asserting a claim of self-defense he could alternatively argue that if the jury did not find that he acted in self-defense, they should consider the absence of proof beyond a reasonable doubt of malice as the basis for a finding of guilt only as to the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter? **Allegations 12, 13 and 14, 52, Am. App. for PCR.**

5. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof with regard to his allegation that Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to adequate review for the jury in closing arguments all the evidence adduced at trial by the State and Petitioner which supported a finding of self-defense? **Allegation 10, Am. App. for PCR.**

6. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof with regard to his allegation that Trial Counsel was ineffective for making statements during his closing arguments which undermined the strength of Petitioner's claim of self-defense? **Allegation 11, Am. App. for PCR. Memorandum in Support, Section F, pgs. 124-126**

7. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof concerning his allegation that Trial Counsel was ineffective for neglecting to request a jury instruction which would have clarified the standard for self-defense to insure that the jury was aware that they could properly evaluate the evidence of self-defense in light of Petitioner's age and physical condition? **Allegation 17, Am. App. for PCR. Memorandum in Support, Section G, pgs. 126-127.**

8. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof with regard to his allegation that Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce into evidence the report issued by the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division concerning the toxicology screen conducted on the victim? **Allegation 25, Am. App. for PCR, Memorandum in Support, Section H, pgs. 127-128.**

9. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof concerning his allegation that Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to numerous portions of the State's closing argument which were either factually inaccurate, addressed matters not in evidence or which were calculated to appeal to the passions and prejudices of the jury? **Allegation 15, Am. App. for PCR, Memorandum in Support, Section I, pgs. 128-133.**

10. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof with regard to his allegation that Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to improper jury instructions given at Petitioner's trial which were contrary to South Carolina Law and which improperly diluted the State's burden of proof? **Allegation 62, Am. App. for PCR, Memorandum in Support, Section J, pgs. 133-136.**

11. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof concerning his allegation that Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce evidence

concerning *Petitioner's positive reputation* for truthfulness and veracity in the community? **Allegation 28, Am. App. for PCR, Memorandum in Support, Section K, pgs. 136-137.**

12. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof with regard to his allegation that he was prejudiced by Trial Counsel's failure to fully explain to Petitioner all the relevant considerations concerning a waiver of the right to a direct appeal before asking Petitioner to sign a waiver of his right to a direct appeal? **Allegation 29 and 30, Am. App. for PCR, Memorandum in Support, Section L, pgs. 137 -139.**

13. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof with regard to his allegations addressing Trial Counsel's failure to adequately cross-examine Corp. Lamonte Edwards, and Trainee Jeffrey Rivas, concerning their claim that Petitioner told them the entire incident took place on the front porch and in the doorway to the trailer where the deceased was shot, as well as the failure of Trial Counsel to adequately cross-examine Corp. Lamont Edwards concerning why he would not have felt it necessary and appropriate to reduce any oral statement he took from Petitioner to writing and to give him the opportunity to review it for accuracy to make necessary changes and to sign it to verify he had read it and agreed with its accuracy? **Allegations 32, 33 and 63, Am. App. for PCR, Memorandum in Support, Section M, pgs. 139-141.**

14. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof concerning his allegation that Trial Counsel was ineffective for neglecting to make a Motion to Strike, and a request for an appropriate curative charge, after a defense objection to testimony from Investigator Ketcherside was sustained on the ground that the witness was not qualified to give the opinion testimony concerning the amount of blood you would expect to find on a knife if it had been in the victim's hand as compared with the amount of blood on the weapon found in the hand of the deceased at the scene where and had not been qualified by the court in the field of blood evidence? **Allegation 38 and 39, Am. App. for PCR, Memorandum in Support, Section N, pgs. 141-142**

15. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof concerning his allegation that Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to request a jury charge informing the jury that the standards for expert witnesses only applied to witnesses expressly qualified as expert witnesses, and even then, only applied to their testimony concerning areas in which that witness was qualified by the court as an expert? **Allegation 42, Am. App. for PCR, Memorandum in Support, Section O, pgs. 142-143.**

16. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof concerning his allegation Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to testimony from Investigator Ketcherside in which he stated his opinion concerning the direction in which blood found at the scene of the shooting appeared to be moving, advanced his opinion that there was a single blood trail leading in from the front door, speculated that the volume of blood located at one place at the scene appeared to be due to the fact that the victim may have been trying to hide, where this witness had not been qualified as an expert witness in the field of blood splatter evidence and where his testimony was based on sheer conjecture and appealed to the passions

and prejudices of the jury without evidentiary foundation and was prejudicial to Petitioner claim of self-defense? **Allegations 41 and 44, Am. App. for PCR, Memorandum in Support, Section P, pgs. 144-145.**

17. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof concerning his allegation Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to testimony from Investigator Ketcherside concerning fingerprint evidence, and more specifically, the fact that the knife found in the victim's hand was not a viable surface from which to get fingerprints, where this witness had not been qualified by the Court as an expert in fingerprint technology? **Allegation 46, Am. App. for PCR, , Memorandum in Support, Section P, pgs. 144-145.**

18. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof concerning his allegation that Trial Counsel was ineffective for neglecting to cross-examine Ketcherside concerning his education and training with regard to forensic evidence? **Allegation 40, Am. App. for PCR, , Memorandum in Support, Section P, pgs. 144-145.**

19. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof concerning his allegations Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to impeach State witness Sean Garvin with his statement to law enforcement in which he acknowledged that Petitioner had previously taken out a restraining order against him, for failing to cross-examine this witness concerning his motive for testifying against Petitioner at trial and for failing to be prepared to utilize testimony from Daniel Ruppel to impeach Garvin's credibility by demonstrating his prior statements to Ruppel admitting he was going to testify against Petitioner because of that incident? ? **Allegation 68, Am. App. for PCR, Memorandum in Support, Section Q, pgs. 145-148.**

20. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof regarding his allegations that Trial Counsel was ineffective for arguing that the knife found in Appellant's car was "*missing*" where the testimony of Investigator Ketcherside clearly indicated that he made a conscious decision not to preserve the knife as evidence and for neglecting to investigate the whereabouts of the knife referenced as having been found in Petitioner's car, and failing to produce the knife at Petitioner's trial so the jury could compare that knife with the knife found in the Victim's hand? **Allegations 55 and 56, Am. App. for PCR, Memorandum in Support, Section R, pg. 149.**

21. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where he met his burden of proof concerning his allegation that Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to portions of the prosecution's closing argument on the law, and the State's subsequent final argument to the jury, which misstated the law in South Carolina and created a mandatory presumption of malice from certain circumstances present in Petitioner's case? **Allegations 57, 58 and 59, Am. App. for PCR, Memorandum in Support, Section S, pgs. 150-163.**

22. Did the lower court err in denying Petitioner relief where the cumulative prejudice arising from the numerous errors and omissions of Trial Counsel demonstrated by Petitioner in his Post-Conviction Relief action was such that it clearly warranted the reversal of his conviction and sentence on the ground that he received ineffective assistance of counsel in violation of his rights

pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as Article I, Section 14, of the South Carolina Constitution? **Allegation 69, Am. App. for PCR, Memorandum in Support, Section T, pgs. 163-167.**

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner acknowledges that the statement of the case found in the Order of Dismissal is accurate. He would add that at the conclusion of the PCR hearing the Court granted leave for both sides to submit memoranda or proposed orders in support of their respective positions in lieu of closing arguments. The lower court's Order of Dismissal was filed on January 18, 2018, but was not received by Counsel for Petitioner until February 26, 2018. Petitioner's timely Notice of Appeal was filed on March 30, 2018.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Application for Post-Conviction Relief generally raises numerous specific allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. The standard of review in a Post-Conviction Relief appeal is whether "any evidence of probative value" exists to support the Post-Conviction Relief court's findings. *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). The burden of proof is on the Petitioner in a Post-Conviction Relief proceeding to prove the allegations raised in his Application for Relief and at his Post-Conviction Relief hearing. *Thompson v. State*, 340 S.C. 112, 531 S.E.2d 294 (2000); Rule 71.1(e), SCRCF. In evaluating an Application for Post-Conviction Relief, the moving party must demonstrate that trial counsel (1) failed to provide him with reasonable professional assistance of counsel under the prevailing standards for attorneys representing clients in criminal matters; and (2) that he was prejudiced by the errors and omissions of counsel such that he was deprived of a fair trial. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Petitioner must show that but for counsel's errors and omissions, there is a reasonable probability that the result at trial would have been different. *Id.*; *Johnson v. State*,

325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997). A reasonable probability has been defined by this Honorable Court as a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 330, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007).

On the one hand, where trial counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain trial strategies, such conduct should not be deemed ineffective assistance of trial counsel. *Roseboro v. State*, 317 S.C. 292, 294, 454 S.E.2d 312, 313 (1995); *Stokes v. State*, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). Counsel may not explain away errors and omissions which acted to prejudice his client's ability to receive a fair trial simply by labeling them matters of trial strategy or tactics. *Ingle v. State*, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002).

## DISCUSSION

The twenty-two (22) Questions Presented herein address a total of forty-two (43) out of the sixty-nine (69) allegations raised and argued in the lower court. Petitioner has culled allegations not born out by the testimony adduced at the PCR hearing. By Order entered by this Honorable Court on February 20, 2019, PCR Counsel's Motion to Exceed the page limit set by Rule 243(e)(3), SCACR, was denied. Counsel has done her best to comply with that ruling. Petitioner most respectfully asserts, however, that on the facts of this case, the imposition of a page limit of twenty-five (25) pages denies Petitioner the opportunity to be fully heard on all of the Sixth Amendments claims on collateral review and thereby violates his right to due process of law. PCR Counsel most respectfully asserts that she had diligently attempted in this case to address every appropriate allegation in support of Petitioner's claim that his right to effective assistance of counsel was violated below. It is simply impossible to present forty-three (43) allegations supporting that Sixth Amendment claim within the confines of the page limitation set by Rule 243(e)(3), SCACR. PCR Counsel would note that the Questions presented, the

Statement of the Case, the Standard of Review and this Discussion have consumed approximately ten (10) of the allotted twenty-five (25) pages, leaving Counsel with fifteen (15) pages to attempt as an advocate to present this case. Counsel has referenced the extensive summary of the trial and PCR testimony from her memorandum filed in the lower court and asks that the Court allow her to incorporate that material in this petition by reference.

Counsel has argued to the best of her ability Questions 1-5 within the restrictions of the page limit imposed. With Regard to Questions 6-22, Petitioner asks that he be allowed to incorporate by reference the arguments advanced on his behalf in the memorandum filed in support of his case in the PCR Court. The Question Presented portion of this petition, *supra*, lists the location in the Appendix where each of the arguments made on these issues can be found. Allegations are grouped by subject matter both for brevity and clarity. Petitioner adopts and incorporates by reference the Factual Background contained in the Memorandum filed by him, as well as the summaries of the relevant trial testimony and PCR testimony presented in that Memorandum which are presented therein with appropriate references to transcript citations. **See, Factual Background, App.p. 927 – 931, Trial Testimony summary App.p. 931 – 981 and Summary of PCR Testimony App.p. 981 – 1018.** Petitioner further notes that Exhibits referenced throughout the arguments presented below, as well as in the summaries and Factual Background incorporated by reference herein, are found in the Appendix at **App.p. 870 – 913.** The arguments set forth below are addressed under headers referencing the Questions presented listed herein as well as the allegations numbers from the pleadings below. A full list of allegations submitted by Petitioner is found in Petitioner's **Memorandum at App.p. 917 – 926.**

## ARGUMENT

### Question Presented 1, Allegation 1, Am. App. for PCR

In his opening statement, Trial Counsel informed the jury that the deceased, *“brought a knife to a gun, a gunfight.”* He told the jury that there, *“will be evidence, I suspect that [the deceased] pulled a knife”* on Petitioner.

The testimony from this trial establishes that Petitioner’s statements in two 911 calls included claims that the deceased had a knife, and that he had shot him in self-defense. Photographs provided to the defense in the discovery process confirmed that the deceased was found with a knife in his hand. Trial Counsel knew that his client had a concealed weapon permit and carried when he was collecting money from tenants. It was ineffective for Trial Counsel to say he merely *“suspected”* evidence would be introduced that the deceased pulled a knife on Petitioner. This statement could easily have been interpreted to mean that Petitioner’s own lawyer was not certain evidence supporting that claim would be introduced. This statement is simply inexplicable in a trial where self-defense was to be asserted and Trial Counsel had photographs documenting that a knife was found in the hand of the deceased. The statement about the Victim having brought a knife to a gunfight was prejudicial on multiple levels. First, it suggested Petitioner had gone to the scene to *“fight”* the deceased. Perhaps of equal importance, this comment came across as a joke about the tragic events in this case. The combination of these remarks quite simply started Petitioner’s trial off on the wrong foot. They conveyed hesitancy by Trial Counsel to commit to the assertion that Petitioner acted in self-defense. Trial Counsel’s remark about the deceased bringing a knife to a gunfight was virtually guaranteed to be repeated by the prosecution and it was. See, App. p. 541, ll. 8-14, where the prosecutor stated, *“[a]nd I submit that even Mr. Davis in his opening statement and in his closing statement says that his client doesn’t have clean hands. What does he say? He says Mr.*

***Kemmerlin brought a knife to a gunfight. What does that mean? Who was there to fight to fight with a gun? His client. How can you be without fault if you're the one doing to fight?***

Petitioner demonstrated below that Trial Counsel failed to provide him reasonable professional assistance starting with the opening statement he presented on Petitioner's behalf.

**Question Presented 2, Allegations 5, 6, 7, and 8 Am. App. for PCR**

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