STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Robert Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000553

GEORGE HUGHES,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

BENJAMIN LIMBAUGH
S.C. Bar No. 103334
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Petitioner argues counsel was ineffective for failing to cross-examine Ketcherside concerning his claim about the blood trail in this case, not challenging his qualifications to give opinion testimony concerning the knife handle, and not challenging his opinion on the blood pattern. PWC p. 17. Petitioner fails to argue how counsel was deficient or how he was prejudiced by these alleged deficiencies. Counsel properly objected to Ketcherside testifying as to his opinions about what the blood on the knife meant and this objection was sustained by the trial court. Counsel testified that he did not object to or cross-examine Ketcherside's testimony concerning the blood pattern because his testimony was consistent with Petitioner's version of events. ROA p. 754, ln. 9-15. Ketcherside testified the blood trail showed movement back toward the kitchen, which aligned with Petitioner's story that the victim continually backed up into the house after being shot. Counsel properly objected to improper testimony and allowed testimony in that was beneficial to Petitioner.

Petitioner alleges that counsel was ineffective for failing to cross-examine SLED Agent Green concerning ballistics testing that could have been done to determine the average distance Petitioner's gun would eject a spent cartridge casing. PWC p. 18. Agent Green testified at the PCR hearing that SLED does not give opinions on the distance shell casings will eject because the distance is not sufficiently predictable. ROA p. 824, ln. 18-20. Petitioner has failed to argue how counsel was deficient for failing to elicit this testimony or how he was prejudiced by the alleged deficiency.

Petitioner has failed to show any deficiency on the part of counsel in relation to the handling of any aspect of the forensic evidence in this case. Counsel properly cross-examined the forensic witnesses, objected to improper testimony, and allowed testimony be presented that was

beneficial to their defensive strategy. Petitioner has failed to show how any one of these alleged errors was sufficiently prejudicial as to merit relief be granted.

QUESTION 4

Petitioner alleges counsel was ineffective for failing to discuss with him the strategy of proceeding only on self-defense as it relates to the murder charge and not arguing to the jury that he should be convicted of voluntary manslaughter if they find that he did not act in self-defense. PWC p. 18. Petitioner acknowledged at the PCR hearing that he rejected entering a plea to anything in connection with this killing because he was innocent and did not want to plead to something he did not do. ROA p. 847, ln. 13-14. Petitioner testified that he did reject the plea, but if he had known he could argue self-defense and voluntary manslaughter he would have wanted to do so. ROA p. 847, ln. 18. Counsel testified at the PCR hearing that he objected to the voluntary manslaughter be given by the court. ROA p. 663, ln. 21. Counsel also argued against the jury coming back with voluntary manslaughter as their verdict in his closing argument. Counsel testified that he advised Petitioner as to elements and potential sentences of both offenses and that he advised him that voluntary manslaughter would not be served day-for-day. ROA p. 664. Counsel testified that he discussed the option of voluntary manslaughter with Petitioner and that Petitioner wanted to solely pursue a verdict of not guilty based on self-defense. Counsel testified that he considered alternative defenses, but that he chose to pursue Petitioner's strongest defense and not to muddy the waters for the jury with the additional consideration of a lesser-included offense. Petitioner's refusal to consider pleading to voluntary manslaughter because he "was innocent and did not want to plead to something he didn't do" also is a strong indication that Petitioner agreed with counsel's strategy to solely pursue self-defense against the murder charge.

Petitioner has failed to show how counsel was ineffective for discussing the trial strategy with Petitioner and how he was prejudiced by the alleged deficiency. Counsel was not deficient where counsel pursued the not-guilty verdict Petitioner desired or where counsel put forth Petitioner's strongest defense.

QUESTION 5

Petitioner alleges counsel was ineffective for omitting factors in his closing argument supporting Petitioner's claim of self-defense that could have been reviewed again for the jury. Counsel's closing argument was well with the reasonable professional standards and counsel has leeway as to what points he believes are pivotal to argue to the jury.

Petitioner contends counsel failed to expressly refute the State's claim that under the law the use of a deadly weapon is malice and shooting someone five times is malice. Petitioner contends counsel should have argued the prosecutor misstated the law and that the statement did not make logical sense. PWC p. 21. This argument is not a valid interpretation of the law. The State is allowed to argue in closing that the jury can infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon, just as the defense is allowed to argue the absence of malice per self-defense. Generally, counsel testified that he typically only objects during the State's closing argument when an egregious error occurs. Counsel did not have grounds to object to this argument by the State and therefore did not do so. Petitioner contends counsel neglected to point out to the jury where the victim bled after being shot did not establish where he was shot. PWC p. 21. Petitioner argues counsel should have pointed out to the jury that the shots could have come from a further distance away and still gone with the defense's theory of the case. PWC p. 21. However, counsel arguing that the shots could have been fired from a further distance away does not assist the defense or align with their defense theory. Throughout the case the theory was that Petitioner

was at the front of the home, shot the victim at close range in self-defense, and the victim drifted back into the home after being shot. Arguing to the jury that the shots could have come from further away would not have assisted Petitioner's self-defense argument.

Petitioner contends counsel should have highlighted the physical state of the front door of the trailer in an effort to demonstrate why Petitioner would have been afraid to back out of the trailer. PWC p. 21. Petitioner makes no argument as to why counsel would be deficient for failing to argue this to the jury or how Petitioner was prejudiced by the alleged deficiency. Petitioner simply argues counsel should have highlighted these factors to the jury. Again, counsel highlighted the important aspects of the defense to the jury in his closing argument.

Petitioner goes on to argue numerous other points that he believes counsel should have raised in his closing argument. PWC p. 22-24. As previously stated, counsel enumerated that he highlighted the points to the jury that were most helpful to their theory of self-defense. Petitioner is also attempting to ask this Court to grant relief by using a cumulative error analysis.

Petitioner argues, essentially, the cumulative effect of all trial counsel's errors prejudiced him to the extent he is entitled to a new trial. This argument is without merit, as not only did trial counsel not commit any errors, but this Court has never recognized the cumulative-error doctrine as a basis for post-conviction relief. See, e.g., Simpson v. State, 367 S.C. 587, 604, 627 S.E.2d 701, 710 (2006) (recognizing that "[w]hether several errors, which are independently found not to be prejudicial, may cumulatively warrant relief is an unsettled question in South Carolina" and holding that "[b]ecause the PCR court found that only one of Simpson's allegations had merit, there was no need to conduct a cumulative-error analysis"); Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 197, 569 S.E.2d 318, 324-25 (2002) ("Whether the cumulation of several errors, which by themselves are not prejudicial, would warrant relief is an unsettled question in South Carolina.").

Many other jurisdictions, including the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, have held a cumulative-error analysis of the prejudice prong of Strickland is inappropriate, and the correct analysis focuses upon each individual allegation of ineffective assistance. Fisher v. Angelone, 163 F.3d 835, 852-53 (4th Cir. 1998); Wainwright v. Lockhart, 80 F.3d 1226 (8th Cir. 1996); Jones v. Sotts, 59 F.3d 143, 147 (10th Cir. 1995). As the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals explained in Fisher v. Angelone:

Fisher argues that the cumulative effect of his trial counsel's individual actions deprived him of a fair trial. We disagree. Having just determined that none of counsel's actions could be considered constitutional error. . . it would be odd, to say the least, to conclude that those same actions, when considered collectively, deprived Fisher of a fair trial. Not surprisingly, it has long been the practice of the Fourth Circuit individually to assess claims under Strickland v. Washington. . . . To the extent this Court has not specifically stated that ineffective assistance of counsel claims, like claims of trial court error, must be reviewed individually, rather than collectively, we do so now. In so holding, we are in agreement with the majority of our sister circuits that have considered the issue.

Id. (citations omitted). See also Mueller v. Angelone, 181 F.3d 557, 586 n.22 (4th Cir. 1999) (“Petitioner also urges us to consider the cumulative effect of his ineffective assistance of counsel claims rather than whether each claim, considered alone, establishes a constitutional violation. This argument is squarely foreclosed by our recent decision in Fisher, 163 F.3d [...at] 852-53 [...]”). The Fourth Circuit further explained, “legitimate cumulative-error analysis evaluates only the effect of matters actually determined to be constitutional error, not the cumulative effect of all of counsel’s actions deemed deficient.” Fischer, 163 F.3d at 852 n. 9.

In this case, none of the actions Petitioner alleges were error were found to be so by the PCR court, nor did the PCR court find Petitioner was prejudiced by any of the alleged errors. As a result, a cumulative-error analysis would be inappropriate on these facts under any

interpretation of the doctrine. This Court should therefore deny the Petition, and the PCR Court's findings should be affirmed.

QUESTIONS VI-XXII.

Respondent moved this date by separate filing, pursuant to SCACR Rule 243(e)(3), to dismiss Questions 6-22 in the Revised Petition for Writ of Certiorari for failing to make any "direct and concise argument" on any of these questions and failing to comply within the petition by not having "the argument on each question shall include citation of authority and specific reference to pertinent portion of the lower court record" with respect to Questions Presented 6-22.1 Instead, the Petitioner within the Revised Petition at page 6-7, complained about this Court's earlier requirement that he comply with the page limitations set forth within the rule and February 20, 2019 Order.

A.

With regard to Questions 6-22 in his Revised Petition rather than setting forth any argument therein, Petitioner asked that he be allowed to incorporate by reference the arguments advanced on his behalf in the memorandum filed in support of his case in the PCR court" and further adopted by reference the factual background and earlier summary of the evidence. See Revised Petition, p. 6-7. Further, in his prayer for relief, he extraordinarily asked that further briefing be dispensed with and that the remedy was of a new trial is "particularly appropriate where Petitioner's health is such that he may not survive and extended appellate process" Revised Petition, p. 25. He alternately and inconsistently then maintains that he should be given the opportunity to fully brief the issues summarized in his cited Memorandum in support of his original application for post-conviction relief.

¹ Respondent assert that that this motion does not involve the arguments with respect to Questions Presented One through Five which complied with Rule 243. See Revised Petition, p. 7-24. d

B.

A simple review of the Revised Petition reveals the obvious - the Petitioner never made any argument on Questions Presented 6-22 in his Revised Petition. Within the Petition, in the argument section, as to each or any of Questions 6-22, there was no “direct and concise argument.” There was no “citation of authority.” There was no “specific reference to the pertinent portions of the record.” To the contrary, there was nothing for the Respondent to address of this Court to Rule upon. Instead, the Petitioner merely seeks to shoehorn arguments from outside of the Revised Petition without any argument within the Petition itself. This is in contravention of the plain purpose of Rule 243.

This action is also in plain contravention of the February 20, 2019 Order of the Supreme Court which denied the Petitioner’s request to exceed the 25 page limit (the original petition was 73 pages and denied a motion to amend the argument in then question 12. Instead, Petitioner merely maintained the same argument he made in Questions Presented One through Five from the rejected petition in the Revised Petition and then merely sought the Court to incorporate by reference its earlier 169 page memorandum in the lower court which he contended addressed the issues. This was not in the plain spirit or intent of the Supreme Court’s intent when the Court denied the earlier motion and sought compliance of Rule 243. If we accept the Petitioner’s assertion, he has turned a rejected 73 page petition for writ of certiorari in a 169 page petition by the incorporation of the post-hearing memorandum. What is even more disconcerting is that none of those “incorporated” materials would address the actual Order of Judge Hood that is the matter on appeal before the Court.² This is despite the fact that the Petitioner recognized in her Revised Petition the

² Respondent further notes that no Rule 59 was made by the Petitioner on Judge Hood’s order. Petitioner noted in his Revised Petition that at some point, he “culled out allegations not borne out by the testimony adduced at the PCR hearing.” Revised Petition, p. 6. However, the absence of a Rule 59 motion related to any matter set

standard of review is whether there is any evidence of probative value to support the Post-conviction Relief court's findings. Revised Petition, p. 5.

“An issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority.” Bryson v. Bryson, 378 S.C. 502, 510, 662 S.E.2d 611, 615 (Ct. App. 2008). “[S]hort, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review.” Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co., 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001). When a party provides no legal authority regarding a particular argument, the argument is abandoned and the court will not address the merits of the issue. State v. Lindsey, 394 S.C. 354, 363, 714 S.E.2d 554, 558 (Ct. App. 2011); State v. Addison, 338 S.C. 277, 285, 525 S.E.2d 901, 906 (Ct.App.1999) (“Conclusory arguments constitute an abandonment of the issue on appeal.”), aff'd as modified, 343 S.C. 290, 540 S.E.2d 449 (2000). See Bennett v. Inv'rs Title Ins. Co., 370 S.C. 578, 599, 635 S.E.2d 649, 660 (Ct. App. 2006) (providing that the appellants abandoned an issue on appeal where the appellants failed to cite any authority for their proposition and made only conclusory arguments in support thereof).

Absent any actual direct and concise arguments on Questions Presented 6-22 by the Petitioner consistent with Rule 243, Respondent submit that the portion of the Revised Petition and Questions Presented 6-22 should be struck as procedurally barred from consideration. There is nothing for either the Respondent in his Return or this Court to address.

If the Court is of the opinion that the issues are preserved by the mere inclusion of the Question Presented in the Revised Petition without any argument on Petitioner's part, Respondent respectfully request the Court to require the Petitioner to file a new petition on

forth in Question Presented 6-22 is disconcerting because he wholly failed to make reference to “pertinent portions of the lower court record.”

those matters in compliance with Rule 243 with a direct and concise argument on each issue with a citation of authority and specific reference to pertinent portions of the record. Had this been the Court's intent in February 20, 2019, it should have granted Petitioner's request. However, it did not. These matters should be procedurally dismissed.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny this Petition for a Writ of Certiorari. Should this Court grant the petition, the State seeks permission to more fully brief the issues herein.